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bild of the district and the city as a whole. The Svoboda-Hof is relatively 
unobtrusive, tucked against the railroad embankment in the shadow of 
the Karl-Marx-Hof and is not especially impressive as a monument. On the 
other hand, the result of Ehn’s effort is a building that faces the length of 
Gunoldstrasse to the south in such a way that no one can approach under 
the three railroad bridges without being seen. (Figure 5) 

An attacker cannot use the bridges or railroad embankment as conceal-
ment as one might if a street separated the two buildings. The usual set 
of small toilet windows punctuate the façade in the design. Up close, a 
stairwell, not encased in masonry, extends beyond the Baulinien onto the 
sidewalk. Masonry balconies project out and extend around the building 
with views in various directions including part of Boschstrasse between the 
Karl-Marx-Hof and the railroad. Geistingergasse, a short street connecting 
Boschstrasse to Heiligenstädterstrasse runs the length of the Svoboda-Hof 
on the side facing the Karl-Marx-Hof. The building occupies the entire 
space between the two streets. (Figures 6 and 7) 

Because the Karl-Marx-Hof is set back somewhat along Heiligenstädter-
strasse the Svoboda-Hof enfi lades the length of the Karl-Marx-Hof with 
some of its balconies and small windows. In addition, the façade of the 
Svoboda-Hof along Heiligenstädterstrasse is a short distance from the 
important intersection of Gunoldstrasse and Heiligenstädterstrasse. The 
overall result, in military terms, is that the Svoboda-Hof occupies a posi-
tion protecting the narrow end of the Karl-Marx-Hof on three sides to pre

Figure 6.
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vent its fl ank from being turned by units approaching from either direction 
along Gunoldstrasse or, in a worst-case scenario, from Geistingergasse. 
The side along Geistingergasse that enfi lades the side of the Karl-Marx-Hof 
facing Heiligenstädterstrasse provides protection in the event of a frontal 
assault on the larger structure from that direction, that is from the slopes 

of the Hohe Warte 
above it. The result 
can be described as a 
kind of demilune in 
the classical style of 
Vauban, detached 
from the main body 
of the Karl-Marx-Hof 
to add strength to the 
whole. Is this prepos-
terous? In response, 
one can simply point 
to the building, the 
Objekt, and say it is 
there, occupying a 
place in the Stadtbild, 
located and designed 
together with the 
Karl-Marx-Hof by the 
city and the same 
architect during revo-
lutionary rather than 
peaceful times in 
keeping with a tradi-
tion of military archi-
tecture in Vienna and 
recent experience 
with the strength of 
the defensive in World 
War I. When the city 
chose to design the 
Karl-Marx-Hof as a 
fortress-like building 
over less overtly 
threatening alterna-
tives like that of Holz-
meister it could hard-
ly have done better 
than design the Svo-
boda-Hof as it did to 
protect the fl ank of 
the Karl-Marx-Hof in Figure 7. Svoboda-Hof from different distances along Heiligenstädterstrasse. 

Karl-Marx-Hof is to the left.
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the event of a confl ict. 

Marinelligasse 1/Taborstrasse

The second relatively small building of interest here was built in the II. 
District along Taborstrasse, a major arterial in front of the Northwest 
Freight Terminal, on a corner facing Am Tabor, an important intersection, 
and running along Marinelligasse toward the embankment of the Northern 
Railway (Nordbahn). It was designed by Leopold Schulz, a Jewish private 
architect in the heavily Jewish Leopoldstadt but by no means the only 
Jewish architect who worked for the city.* The building was relatively small 
at 52 apartments, approved in May, 1926 and fi nished in May, 1927. Curi-
ously, Schulz got only one other contract, in the following year for a build-
ing of about the same size.† The land was bought for an undisclosed price 
from two owners who kept an adjacent building on Taborstrasse.‡ The 
Railroad owned the neighboring building on Marinelligasse so the Stadt-
bauamt anticipated no objection to the design arising from that quarter 
although one window of the older building facing the new project would 
open only on a light shaft.§

A more important exception to the guidelines involved a projection—Ri-
salit in German--beyond the building lines along Taborstrasse to allow a 
row of balconies with doors and masonry balustrades that provided a view 
down the length of Taborstrasse. The variance, which added 3 meters to 
the façade facing Am Tabor and 1.25 meters to the side of the building 
along Taborstrasse, attracted attention and concern from the Baupolizei or 
Building Police of MA 37. The Gemeinderat had approved building on the 
site on May, 7, 1926, but in an unusual directive dated July 24, 1926 the 
Baupolizei wrote that several other departments should be notifi ed includ-
ing MA 23b, MA 36, MA 17 and MA 47. Furthermore the Baupolizei insisted 
that before building started written (emphasis theirs) permission was to be 
sought, suggesting that problems with the variance might arise and that 
the Baupolizei had something of a veto right in the matter.¶ As usual no 
reasons are given for the changes to the building lines although one plau-
sible reason might have been that it added 10% to the space of a relative-
ly small building. On the other hand the courtyard could have been small-
er. There is no evidence otherwise to indicate pressing needs relative to 
the site that might have led the Stadtbauamt or Leopold Schulz to submit 
the unusual design. The number of apartments in buildings was fl exible in 

* Schulz died in Mauthausen a few weeks before the Allies liberated the camp.

† Brßlgasse 45-47 in the XVI District.

‡ They are identifi ed as Margaret Zechl and siblings Dietrich and Marie Streicher.

§ Information taken from fi le on Marinelligasse 1 in fi les of MA 37, Baupolizei.

¶ Data taken from Baupolizei (MA 37) on Marinelligasse 1. “Vor Beginn des Baues ist um die Auss-
teckung der Baulinie und des Niveaus schriftlich anzusuchen.” Underlined in the original.



32

general and there was no obvious reason to increase the number on this 
particular lot. Six other projects in the II. District had fewer apartments 
with one containing only eight. An unusual result recorded for no other 
buildings in the entire program was the cost overruns encountered by the 
time the building was fi nished in 1927. The Magistrats-Direktion request-
ed an accounting in July, but the Stadtbauamt put off the matter until the 
higher offi ce added “urgency” to its request in October, 1927.* MA 22 was 
especially interested in this design and evidently embarrassed by the add-
ed expense. 

Marinelligasse 1 was one of twenty-one projects built in the II. District and 
the fi rst to be built in the district after the Lassalle-Hof and Heizmann-Hof 
discussed earlier.† It was relatively isolated from the others with the near-
est being a large project of 217 apartments at Obere Augartenstrasse 
12-14 begun in 1931. A set of buildings near the Danube along Engerth-
strasse and Wehlistrasse were far from Am Tabor and the Nordwestbahn-
hof. This left Marinelligasse 1 as the only project of any importance in the 
central part of the district. Its relative isolation makes it more important as 
an expression of socialist architectural intent. It stands out, facing Am 
Tabor and the adjoining streets as an admonition in the Stadtbild that city 

* BD 2290/1927. Letter of October 27, 1927.

† Eight of them fi lled gaps between existing buildings. Cf. Die Gemeindebauten des Roten Wiens, 
261-271.

Figure 8. Marinelligasse 1, from Am Tabor.
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authorities intended something different for the new epoch of building in 
Vienna. The location is strategic, lying at one corner of a built-up equilater-
al triangle formed by Taborstrasse, Marinelligasse and Nordbahnstrasse at 
the foot of the raised embankment of the Nordbahn. The freight terminal 
of the Nordwestbahn, really more a collection of loading docks since the 
railway lacked passenger service, lies across Taborstrasse. The more im-
portant street of the two at the site was undoubtedly Taborstrasse with its 

streetcar line, capacity 
for vehicles and traffi c 
node at Am Tabor. The 
extra 1.25 meters that 
projected onto the 
sidewalk along Tabor-
strasse gave an unim-
peded view down the 
street all the way to 
Nordbahn-strasse 
beneath the embank-
ment, a distance of 
300 to 400 meters. 
This meant that any 
approach to Am Tabor 
from the Nordbahn 
embankment along 
Taborstrasse was 
easily within the range 
of rifl es or machine-
guns stationed on the 
balconies of Marinelli-
gasse 1. The blunt 
façade facing Am 
Tabor a short distance 
away covers that 
intersection with four 
sets of balconies, two 
facing Taborstrasse 
and two facing Mari-
nelligasse, along with 
the windows of the 
building. Basement 
windows that appear 
to be more than air 
shafts could also be 
used for defensive 
purposes. The side 

Figure 9. Marinelligasse 1 from along Taborstrasse
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along Marinelligasse is less striking but has balconies covering the length 
of the street toward Nordbahnstrasse made possible by the 6 meter exten-
sion beyond the building line facing Am Tabor. (Figures 8-10) 

The kinesthetic response to approaching the building from all three direc-
tions, from Am Tabor, along the length of Taborstrasse from the Nordbahn, 
and along Marinelligasse and even from underneath the balconies them-
selves, is disturbing if one considers the possibility that armed fi ghters 
might be occupying the building. It is unlike any others in the neighbor-
hood, projecting itself in three directions at once with metaphorical “asser-
tiveness.”

Military interpretations of Marinelligasse 1 or of the Svoboda-Hof as po-
tential threats to the surrounding area were left to the imagination of the 
viewer. It was one of many such metaphors of power and control that 
marked the type of the Gemeindebau in Vienna between the wars which 
call for inclusion in the interpretation of the program, both of individu-
al buildings and the cityscape as a whole. When Josef Bittner announced 
a new building epoch he was fully conscious of the impact each housing 
project would make on the Stadtbild, an image for all to see and interpret 
according to the impression it made on them. The impression was provoc-

Figure 10. Marinelligasse 1 from Marinelligasse. Cf. pictures in fi le 2010-11-16.
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ative and aggressive from the start, growing stronger in the years 1925-
1928 for individual buildings culminating in the Karl-Marx-Hof and for the 
program as a whole in Friedrich-Engels-Platz even after the more overtly 
military features had been downplayed starting in 1928. When rifl es and 
machineguns appeared in the projects in 1934 no one was surprised, for 
machineguns appeared in the projects in 1934 no one was surprised, for 
the metaphor of domination had become the reality of defending a rebel-
lion. Engels Platz signifi ed the triumph of the program in placing 60,000 
apartments in 370 projects throughout the city; it also meant that the 
workers had the means to defend themselves against threats from the 
right should their own plans for the class struggle be frustrated. The inclu-
sion of expensive fortress-like features in smaller buildings like the Svobo-
da-Hof and Marinelligasse 1 indicates that there was intent across a wide 
spectrum of projects to impress opponents with military potential rather 
than merely to provide additional air, light or decoration for a housing pro-
gram.

Wiessenböckstrasse II.Teil

The third project of interest is a small complex of apartment buildings 
separated from each other by a mall rather than surrounding a courtyard. 
It is attached to an earlier settlement of rowhouses and gardens on Weis-
senböckstrasse in the XI. District at the junction with Simmeringer Haupt-
strasse on the way to the airport at considerable distance from the center 
of town. A large complex on the same arterial at Fickey Strasse a few 
blocks closer in on Simmeringer Hauptstrasse was not erected until 1931 
while a series of buildings at Herder Platz in the same vicinity containing 
more than 1100 apartments was started earlier but two blocks distant 
from the important Simmeringer Hauptstrasse. This last was the scene of 
considerable fi ghting in 1934, notably at the Karl-Höger-Hof. 

The settlement at Weissenböckstrasse/Simmeringer Hauptstrasse is some-
thing of an oddity. As a whole the project was one of a few settlements 
(Gemeinde Siedlungen) which were a grudging continuation of the popular 
settlement movement but owned and controlled by the city rather than by 
a cooperative of private homeowners susceptible to the blandishments of 
private property with its rejection of socialist values. The additional costs 
of extending an infrastructure of water, sewers and roads toward the out-
skirts of town made the option of large blocks closer to the center of town 
more attractive to the city, but the amount of available land was not a 
problem. The cheaper construction of settlement houses, however, made 
the costs per unit somewhat comparable, making the socialist values of 
the city administration the determining factor, it seems. It is easy to argue 
at this point that the possibility of a civil war also made higher concentra-
tions of potential fi ghters in reinforced concrete projects more attractive. 

The fi rst part of the settlement follows the pattern of others from the early 
1920’s, that is a series of row houses with large gardens behind them. The 
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second part along Simmeringer Hauptstrasse is a unique hybrid of a set-
tlement and a block. The whole tract would have been row houses, but the 
owners of the stretch along Simmeringer Hauptstrasse between Weissen-
böckstrasse and Reischekgasse were “causing trouble” when the project 
began, so the city could not acquire the land when the rest of the settle-
ment was built.* That left the area open for a different kind of develop-
ment in 1926-27 when the city bought the land and hired the private fi rm 
of Franz Kaym and Alfons Hetmanek as architects. The same team had 
designed the fi rst part of the settlement in 1923 so it was an easy choice 
to complete the project. Kaym, as mentioned earlier, had favored the set-
tlement concept in the early 1920’s but abandoned it after the movement 
met opposition and fi zzled by 1926. In the meantime he had ingratiated 
himself with the Stadtbauamt so that he was chosen as one of the mem-
bers of the jury for the Lassallehof. The fi rm had recently designed the 
Friedrich-Engels-Hof at Herderplatz and the nearby Karl-Höger-Hof in the 
XI. District.† 

With politically reliable residents in the adjacent settlement owned by the 
city Kaym and Hetmanek had an easier job than Karl Krist with his apart-
ment block at the entrance to the cooperative settlement at Josef Bau-
mann-Gasse 65-67. The size of the second part did not have to be espe-
cially large since Kaym and Hetmanek had only to complement the political 
sentiments found in the existing settlement rather than gerrymander an 
entire area. The location was signifi cant, for the importance of the junction 

* This document, following BD73/1924 is without a number and out of order in the carton. Check [ ] 
1924 dated January 23. The phrase is found in the document.

† Interestingly, the name of Hetmanek alone is to be found on a proposal for the new Palace of 
Justice after it burned in 1927. The design, accessible through the Architektur Zentrum Wien, is 
historicist to the point where it could have been taken from Palladio’s Four Books of Architecture.

Figure 11. Weissenböckstrasse II. Teil. taken from Simmeringer Hauptstrasse.
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of Weissenböckstrasse and Simmeringer Hauptstrasse had been apparent 
for some time.

The raid on the Arsenal in 1927 that prompted the distribution of arms to 
the Gemeindebauten apparently did not affect the plans for the addition 
to the settlement judging from dates on the drawings, for there were no 

Figure 12. Weissenböckstrasse II. Teil. taken from Simmeringer Hauptstrasse.
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changes in the design of 1926.* In other words the junction of Simmering-
er Hauptstrasse and Weissenböckstrasse was important enough in itself to 
warrant the structure that appeared. All the same, it stands out as one of 
the most provocative of the smaller buildings in the program. The base-
ment walls were of solid concrete (Massivmauerwerk) 51cm thick (1.67 
feet) for a building only two stories in height for the most part while the 
walls above ground were 38cm. thick (15 inches).† The walls are enough 

* Plans were approved by the Gemeinderat on Sept 24, 1926 and work started on October 29, 
1926. Information found at Bezirksamt Simmering 11.Bezirk Wien, Enkplatz. MA 37 Baupolizei. 
Folder Nur:E.Z. 2320-2321. Signed by Abteilungsvorstand of MA 15 but signature unreadable. Nr. 
40/21461/1926 signed by Abteilungsvorstand on 27 January, 1927. Put into the Stadtplan Blatt 
IX/8, 1928 Mag Abt. 54. It was fi nished on June 27, 1928. Schlöss Catalogue p.12. This project 
involved cooperation between MA 15 and MA 40 but for some reason MA 22 is not mentioned in the 
plans on fi le with the Baupolizei.

† Once the Depression hit the importance of reducing costs arose. One proposal was to reduce the 
strength of the walls (Verringerung der Mauerstärken) as well as to eliminate the attic windows 
known as Kämpferfenster. It should be noted immediately, however, that the word Kämpferfenster 
was an old term that referred originally to the support for a lintel or doorway arch where a window 
might be placed and did not refer to a feature specifi c to the Gemeindebauten. The term “Kämpfer” 
has more to do with the abacus of a classical column in architecture (Abakus in German) than with 
the word for “fi ghter.” Cf. BD 1232/31 from January, 1931 and especially BD 1293/31 recording a 
high level meeting of April 20, 1931. Regarding the strength of the walls, the committee admitted 
they were expensive and decided to set up a subcommittee.

Figure 13. Weissenböckstrasse II. Teil. taken from Simmeringer Hauptstrasse.



39

to stop a bullet, but more striking are the corner windows on every fl oor 
ventilating the toilet cubicles that cut off the corners together with a simi-
lar window in the courtyard facing the entrance on Reischekgasse. Among 
the toilet ventilation windows that generated such opposition since 1926 
these stand out. They are outlined in solid masonry that appears to be cast 
stone or concrete surrounded by brick and look like casemated portals for 
fi ring weapons similar to bunkers in WW I. The corners of the windows 
taper down changing the 45 degree angle back to the 90 degree angle of 
the corner. The appearance is all-important for the impression they make 
from the outside regardless of how accessible the apertures were from the 
inside. The pictures are especially dramatic. (Figures 11-14) 

After 1928 such windows began to disappear, most likely because of the 
expense but possibly because of the opposition they generated among 
observers. The task of ventilating the cubicles was gradually assumed by 
larger windows in the apartments, a point mentioned in answering a com-
plaint about the small windows in 1938 well after the socialist program 
had ended.* In the meantime they made a signifi cant contribution to the 
Stadtbild and to this day remain to characterize the Gemeindebauten of 
the mid-1920’s.

* BD 172/1938 January 4, 1938. “Auch heute werden in den Wohnhäusern der Gemeinde Wien die 
Aborte von kleinen Wohnungen in gleicher Weise vorgesehen nur dass die Entläftungen derselben in 
letzter Zeit meistens in Oberlichtfl ügeln von normalen Fenstern untergebrach werden.”

Figure 14. Weissenböckstrasse II. Teil. taken from Simmeringer Hauptstrasse.
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The location and design of Weissenböckstrasse II.Teil attracted the at-
tention of the Schutzbund and the government alike. The socialists be-
gan concealing weapons there, possibly with the help of Franz Rzehak, a 
member of the City Council from Simmering and chairman of the District 
Housing Commission, who was arrested in February, 1934.* The martial 
aspect of the building with the ventilation windows looking strikingly like 
machinegun apertures made it an obvious candidate for a raid when the 
government began its systematic search for weapons. On May 14, 1933, 
the police raided the apartments of three streetcar drivers in the complex 
confi scating a large number of rifl es, machineguns and ammunition. In one 
apartment an unspecifi ed number of rifl es, seven carbines, ammunition 
and paraphernalia turned up, in another two machineguns, thirty rifl es, 
eleven boxes of machinegun ammunition and around a thousand rounds of 
rifl e ammunition were found. The police found three machinegun “bolts” in 
the third along with belts and ammunition as well as fi fty rifl es and ammu-
nition. The residents were given jail terms of seven, fourteen and ten days 
respectively, a slap on the wrist not unusual at the time because of the 
delicate relations between the government and the Schutzbund.† A similar 
raid in distant Linz became the spark that ignited the uprising in Vienna af-
ter the government started arresting neighborhood leaders, the Vertrauen-
smänner of various housing projects, who presumably knew where weap-
ons were stored and would lead the local Schutzbund units in the event of 
an uprising.

Conclusion

Well after Anton Weber and the Stadtbauamt backed away from including 
overtly military features in municipal housing projects the effects had not 
yet played out. The monument of the Reumannhof became the fortress of 
1934 along with many others when a general strike was called, the elec-
tricity and gas works were occupied and fi ring erupted from the windows 
of the projects. The metaphor of power became the reality of the bunker 
under the pressure of circumstances despite second thoughts among pol-
iticians and building designers chosen by the city. Massive concrete and 
brick structures, with or without military features, dotted the city, giving 
confi dence to socialist military leaders that they could defeat the govern-
ment with the limited forces at its disposal. By that time enough Social 
Democratic effort had gone into preparing for a civil war that there was no 
turning back. The gradual nature of the buildup to civil war in the years 
between 1924 and 1934, marked by the riots of 1927 and the fi ghting 
around the projects at the end of the decade, should alert a historian of 
the housing program to the connection between the architecture of the Ge-

* Lexikon der Wiener Sozialdemokratie. No records can be found regarding meetings of the District 
Housing Commission.

† AVA Polizeidirektion Wien, Akten Feb. 1934 Karton 5. Report dated 19 May, 1934 but listing the 
date of the search as 14.IV.33. The arrested were Josef Niedermayer, Leopold Schweitzer and Karl 
Haindl.
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meindebauten and the atmosphere of violence, easily forgotten after the 
failure in 1934 and the overwhelming distraction of the Nazi years, amid 
admiration for the social accomplishments of Red Vienna. Between 1924 
and roughly 1929 the city constructed buildings that were provocative in 
the extreme, and as their number mounted into the hundreds, the confi -
dence of the socialists in their reinforced masonry grew until the buildings 
became identifi ed with resistance and defi ance when the number of apart-
ments passed 60,000.* The seduction of the workers was complete by 
1934. A combination of Marxist propaganda, weapons, strongholds, prece-
dents ranging from the Paris Commune to the Bolshevik victory in Russia, 
and Schutzbund plans to attack, however pathetic the Eifl er Plan seems in 
retrospect, weaken the common argument that the uprising of 1934 was 
an act of despair with inevitable consequences when artillery was used 
against it. The prominence of the hard-line politician Anton Weber leading 
the housing program balanced the irresolution of other Social Democratic 
leaders who were retreating from the revolutionary aspects of the class 
struggle, Marxist though they claimed to be, and took physical form in the 
Gemeindebauten to transform the Stadtbild of Vienna into a city of work-
ers’ Kasernen. The place of the projects in the whole picture is important 
enough to make them an integral part of the tragic politics of Red Vien-
na and should be acknowledged when describing a type of the Gemeinde 
Wien apartment houses between the wars. To ignore the military qualities, 
apparent by simply looking at the buildings and how they fi t into the city-
scape, would be unfaithful to the past. The Stadtbauamt was not simply an 
offi ce populated by technocrats, it was fully engaged designing buildings 
in close cooperation with political leaders and a vision of the new socialist 
city, buying the property needed and choosing architects who would car-
ry out the mission. The activities of its own architects and fi rms trusted 
to follow their example, the awarding of contracts, and the buildings that 
resulted when private architects were engaged, point to a high degree of 
control by the Stadtbauamt while the political and social program of the 
Social Democratic Party exercised ultimate power to direct activities in 
the end. Anton Weber and the Stadtbauamt got the results they wanted, 
fully aware of the individual projects and their place in the Stadtbild, not 
somehow surprised and able to accuse critics of partisan politics for seeing 
something that was not there or unintended. It is easy to explain the lack 
of a paper trail. Built to last for two centuries, the buildings are still there 
to see. They have been renovated with many apartments enlarged to ac-
commodate higher standards of living but can still be seen in their context 
and understood as a contribution to the political turmoil that characterized 
Red Vienna.

 

* Actually 64,000 by 1934.
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